DRAFT
MEETING MINUTES
CITY OF FORT LAUDERDALE
MARINE ADVISORY BOARD
— FORT LAUDERDALE FIRE RESCUE DEPARTMENT
CITY OF FORT LAUDERDALE 528 NW 2NP STREET, STATION #2
FORT LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33311
3RD FLOOR CONFERENCE ROOM
THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 6, 2025 - 6:00 P.M.

Cumulative Attendance
May 2024-April 2025

Steve Witten, Chair P 8 1
James Harrison, Vice Chair (dep. 7:07) P 7 2
Norm Bekoff A 3 2
Tyler Brunelle P 8 1
Jason Dunbar (via Zoom) P 8 1
Barry Flanigan P 8 1
Robert Franks P 7 2
John Lynch (dep. 8:00) P 8 1
Noelle Norvell A 6 3
Bob Swindell P 2 0
Bill Walker P 6 3
LaRhonda Ware (arr. 6:06) P 1 0
Robert Washington P 8 1

As of this date, there are 13 appointed members to the Board, which means 7 would
constitute a quorum.

Staff

Andrew Cuba, Marine Facilities Manager

Luis Villanueva, Marine Facilities Senior Administrator

Bob Dunckel, Assistant City Attorney

Sergeant Travis O’Neal, Marine Unit

Manuel Garcia, Senior Code Compliance Officer

Edward Eason, Code Compliance Officer

Deputy Chief Garret Pingol, Fire Rescue Marine Team
Captain Chad Robertson, Fort Lauderdale Fire Department
L. Harmon, Recording Secretary, Prototype, Inc.

Communications to City Commission

None.

l. Call to Order / Roll Call

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 1 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 2

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 2 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 3

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 3 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 4

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 4 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 5

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 5 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 6

VIl. Dock Waiver — 1414 SE 12" Street, #2C Slip 11 / Nicolas & Sharon Dilorio

Nicholas Dilorio, Applicant, explained that he is an owner at the Hemingway Landings
condominium at 1414 SE 12t Street, where they are assigned Slip #11. The previous
owner of that slip had received a license from Broward County to install a floating dock
structure, which was installed with the written approval of the condominium board. Mr.
Dilorio advised that he was issued a violation for the floating dock by Code Compliance,
which was contacted by the condominium manager and board.

Mr. Dilorio continued that in November 2024, public notice was provided to neighboring
properties within 300 ft. of the slip, none of whom objected to his application before the
MAB. The Board voted unanimously to recommend approval of the structure to the City
Commission.

Mr. Dilorio referred to the Staff memorandum for tonight’s Application, which stated that
the Applicant requested approval for an existing 31.5 ft. x 12 ft. floating dock that extended
a maximum of 36.4 ft. into the adjacent waterway. At the December 17, 2024 City
Commission meeting, individuals representing the condominium association alleged that
the structure extended beyond the 30% limit. The allegation of discrepancy was based
on the use of a Google measurement tool as well as inconsistencies within the provided
boundary survey.

The memorandum continued that the Applicant re-submitted plans which shortened the
platform by 20 in. to ensure compliance with the 30% limit, based on a site-specific
waterway width of 120 ft. The City’s licensed surveyor confirmed the accuracy of this
width and provided a memorandum to this effect. The modified Application requested a
waiver of 9.73 ft. The structure’s distance from the property line was listed as 34.73 ft.

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 6 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 7

Mr. Dilorio asserted that 30% of the 120 ft. waterway width would be 36 ft., where his
floating dock is at 34.73 ft. He continued that his Application was before the Board once
more in order to address two issues:
e Establishing the width of the waterway from property line to property line
e Showing that the floating vessel platform does not infringe beyond 30% of the
confirmed waterway width of 120 ft.

Mr. Dilorio also showed a slide of a memorandum written by the City’s surveyor, who
concluded that the measurement of the waterway from property line to property line was
120 ft. This was determined by analysis of two recorded plats in Broward County
documents.

Mr. Dilorio continued that all owners in his condominium complex are required to sign
documents which include a schematic showing a distance of 60 ft. to the center of the
channel and 60 ft. from the center to the opposite side, again totaling a distance of 120
ft.

Mr. Dilorio advised that the City Commission had also asked if his slip exceeded more
than 30% of the 120 ft. waterway width, which would equal 36 ft. He contacted the original
manufacturer of his dock, who had suggested that cubes be removed from the structure
to shorten the dock by 20 in. He showed a slide showing the reconfigured dock, which
extended 34.73 ft. into the waterway once the structure was shortened by 20 in. He also
showed slides reflecting the removal of one of these cubes on January 17, after which
the shortened dock did not exceed the 30% limit.

Mr. Dilorio reiterated that there is no violation of the 30% limit at his slip and no
encroachment from his slip into another owner’s slip. While a boat docked in his slip could
potentially extend beyond the slip, so could boats docked in other slips. He concluded
that he had no intention of docking a boat that would extend beyond his slip.

Mr. Dilorio showed a number of slides with information he anticipated would be presented
in objection to his Application, and briefly reviewed why that information would not be
accurate or applicable. He requested the opportunity to review any testimony from other
parties at tonight’s meeting. Chair Witten confirmed that he would have this opportunity.

Cam Rogers, attorney representing the Hemingway Condominium Association board,
recalled that in 2023, citations were issued to the unit owners responsible for all 21 boat
slips due to pilings which extended beyond the 25 ft. limitation listed in the City’s Unified
Land Development Regulations (ULDR) Section 47-19.3.b. The Association had brought
this issue before the MAB, which recommended a waiver for the pilings, which were
installed when the condominium was being developed.

Mr. Rogers identified Slip 11 in a photograph, noting a portion of the floating vessel
platform which he stated extended beyond the 25 ft. limitation. He also identified the

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 7 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 8

property line and added that a topographical survey lists the distance from the seawall to
the end of the floating dock. The property line is located inland of the seawall.

Mr. Rogers explained that the Association is concerned with bringing the marina into
compliance while treating unit owners fairly and consistently. He stated that one issue is
the 30% limitation, which cannot be mitigated by a waiver. He confirmed that the City
Commission had requested that Mr. Dilorio provide a survey of the subject area when his
Application came back to them at a later date. He added that Mr. Dilorio must cite
extraordinary circumstances which contribute to his request for a waiver.

Mr. Rogers advised that the engine and skeg of a boat are likely to extend “probably 20
inches” from the back of the boat, and stated that it is likely any boat docked at the floating
vessel platform would extend to the 30% limitation. Assistant City Attorney Bob Dunckel
advised that there should be no focus on “a boat that’s not there” but which could be
docked at the slip in the future and could potentially constitute a violation. It was further
clarified that Mr. Dilorio does not currently own a boat and no boat is docked at his slip.

Mr. Brunelle asked if the Association had filed complaints with two other vessels shown
to extend further into the waterway than Mr. Dilorio’s dock. Mr. Rogers replied that the
vessels at Slips 1 through 4 are docked at slips which have “more waterway” into which
they can extend. He added that while the Association has not taken a position on any
particular boat, Code Compliance has issued citations “where they see fit.” He asserted
that the Association has not acted in a discriminatory manner toward any individual, but
only wished to see the marina brought into compliance.

Mr. Rogers continued that the issue is one of safety, pointing out that there is no reflector
on the platform which extends beyond 25 ft. into the waterway. This could result in the
platform not being seen by boats traveling on the waterway at night. He added that there
is no extraordinary circumstance which would necessitate leaving the dock in place, which
he felt could subject other boaters to safety issues. He concluded that the Association
hopes to bring the marina into compliance and requested that the MAB not recommend
approval of a waiver for the subject slip.

Chair Witten asked if Mr. Dilorio would be willing to place reflectors on his floating dock
to ensure it is visible at night. Mr. Dilorio pointed out that the same concern for visibility
would apply to every other structure in the marina without a reflector, and confirmed that
if reflectors are required throughout the marina, he would be willing to comply.

Mr. Rogers stated that approving the Application would set a precedent, as there is
another floating vessel platform at the marina. If Mr. Dilorio is granted a waiver, the owner
of that other platform may make the same request. He reiterated that the Association is
trying to bring the marina into compliance.

It was asked if Code Compliance would look at other boats in the area if they were called
to investigate the circumstances of a single boat, or if the Association would have to

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 8 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 9

request a Code inspection of the entire marina. Former Code Compliance Officer Marco
Aguilera stated that because he is no longer a Code Compliance Officer, he could not
speak to the ongoing Application, as he does not know what has happened since the first
citation was issued. He recalled that at the time, he had only cited the floating dock at Slip
11 and the pilings as a whole. He did not recall citing any individual boats that may have
projected into the waterway at that time.

Mr. Aguilera continued that he would not have recommended that Mr. Dilorio receive a
waiver for his floating dock if he had not felt a waiver would be appropriate. In his opinion,
the dock did not constitute a navigational hazard. He reiterated that he could not speak
to any actions taken after his involvement with the case ended.

Mr. Lynch left the meeting at 8:00 p.m.

Mr. Rogers stated that boats in Slips 5 through 21 may not extend beyond 36 ft. into the
waterway, and added that it is not known whether the floating dock in question is
measured from the property line, which is inland of the seawall. He confirmed that if other
boats extend beyond 36 ft., they are also within the navigable waterway and are in
violation of Code. He also cautioned that if floating docks and lifts remain in the marina,
they will be occupied by boats that extend beyond the 30% limitation, which would place
the marina in violation.

Attorney Dunckel asked if there were any issues with asking the owners of vessels that
extend more than 30% into the waterway to remove those boats. He also asked if the
Association would reach out to Code Compliance and request that other violations in the
marina be addressed. Mr. Rogers replied that the marina rules state there may not be
boats beyond 36 ft. He added that he would have to speak to the Association’s board of
directors regarding any other action.

Mr. Rogers also pointed out that citations were issued on two boats which were asked to
leave the marina and which have left. No other vessels have been cited at this point.

Attorney Dunckel asked if the Association planned to take any further proactive actions
against vessels that may constitute violations. Mr. Rogers reiterated that both boats have
been moved.

Mr. Brunelle asked if the Association had previously approved the floating dock before
Mr. Dilorio purchased his unit and the slip. Mr. Rogers replied that the Association could
not legally approve that structure. Mr. Brunelle noted that when Mr. Dilorio was cited for
the floating dock, he had shortened it to bring it within the required limitation. He did not
see a navigational issue.

Mr. Walker referred to the Code Section addressing mooring devices and structures, and
requested clarification of the structure which was cited. It was clarified that the structure
is a floating vessel platform on which a vessel could be mounted.

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 9 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 10

Mr. Brunelle noted that the Board has been consistent regarding the right of an owner
with a vessel to lift it out of the water, provided that it does not extend beyond the required
limit. Attorney Dunckel stated that floating vessel platforms are viewed differently from
boat lifts under state regulation, and are given an exemption from municipal regulation.
He added, however, that he has reached out to other Florida municipal attorneys and has
received conflicting responses. With regard to Mr. Dilorio’s Application, he had advised
that if Mr. Dilorio pursued a dock waiver, there would be no need for litigation regarding
the structure itself.

At this time Chair Witten opened the public hearing.

Ellyn Bogdanoff, representing unit owner Brian Lilly from the Hemingway Landings
condominium, requested clarification of how the original waiver request was voted upon.
Attorney Dunckel explained that the MAB had voted to approve the waiver, but the City
Commission has not voted on it thus far.

Ms. Bogdanoff stated that with regard to the structure itself, many local jurisdictions have
chosen to treat floating platforms as if they were permanent docks. Not all municipal
Codes have been updated to address the platforms, which are removable. This
distinguishes them from boat lifts, which are permanently attached.

Attorney Dunckel advised that the floating vessel platform Statute is listed under
environmental regulations rather than in Chapter 327 of State Statutes, which addresses
vessels.

Ms. Bogdanoff continued that while the owner she represents is not opposed to floating
platforms, he is one of a group of unit owners who are “trying to stop the chaos” of slip
owners she described as disrespectful of rules and regulations. She asserted that her
client would have no objection to the floating platform if it was in Code.

Ms. Bogdanoff also emphasized that an individual seeking a waiver must demonstrate
extenuating circumstances, and noted that there was no discussion of such
circumstances in the record of the November 2024 meeting. She did not see any hardship
which applied to Mr. Dilorio’s Application.

With respect to the width of the waterway, Ms. Bogdanoff advised that she had reached
out to MIASF, which sent her links to realtors’ sites listing the width as 110 ft. She felt this
showed a discrepancy regarding the width of the waterway, and that the City Commission
had wished to clarify how the width was measured.

Ms. Bogdanoff continued that the goal is for all owners to be within compliance. If the
Association does not bring the marina issues under control, she felt they would be almost
impossible to police without contacting Code Compliance. She concluded that with no

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 10 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 11

discussion of extenuating circumstances on the record, she did not know how the waiver
had originally been approved by the MAB.

Mr. Brunelle noted that there were no extenuating circumstances when the Association’s
application related to dock pilings was heard. Ms. Bogdanoff stated that the extenuating
circumstances in that case were that engineers told the Association that if the dock pilings
were relocated, they were unlikely to remain in place.

Chair Witten commented that he had visited the subject site and spoken with the
Applicant, and had observed that other boats appeared to exceed the distance of Mr.
Dilorio’s structure. He asked what would happen if the owner of one of those vessels was
found to be in violation. Ms. Bogdanoff stated that the owner would be asked to move the
boat somewhere else.

It was noted once again that Mr. Dilorio had purchased his unit and slip with the structure
already in place and previously approved by the Association, which could itself be seen
as an extenuating circumstance. Ms. Bogdanoff asserted that while this was for the MAB
to determine, she would argue that it was not extenuating, as an owner is obliged to know
whether or not their boat is compliant with the requirements of their property.

It was pointed out that there had been no documentation showing the structure was out
of compliance until a complaint was recorded. Ms. Bogdanoff replied that “nothing was
on the record,” and the structure, because it is not considered permanent, had not
required a permit when it was installed.

Chair Witten observed that approximately half of the unit owners who have boats at the
condominium’s marina may need to move those boats. Ms. Bogdanoff clarified that while
she does not represent the Association, compliance is the Association’s goal.

Attorney Dunckel addressed Ms. Bogdanoff's concerns regarding extraordinary
circumstances, stating that he felt she may be confusing the standards required for a
variance with the extraordinary circumstances associated with a waiver application. He
suggested that the MAB may need to review the array of waivers for which they have
recommended approval and determine whether or not the Application before them tonight
lies outside or within those boundaries, based upon whether or not other waivers have
been issued under similar circumstances.

Ms. Bogdanoff did not agree with Attorney Dunckel's comments, stating that she
understood the definition of extraordinary circumstances to be made for each individual
waiver rather than measured against the circumstances of other waiver requests. She
reiterated that the Board had not discussed extraordinary circumstances for the
Application when it was heard, and that the Application had listed the width of the canal
as an extraordinary circumstance.

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 11 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 12

Mr. Cuba read from the Application, which cited the floating vessel platform’s positive
environmental impact and reduction of potential damage to the watercraft while it is
docked as justifications of the request. Ms. Bogdanoff stated that these were not
extraordinary circumstances.

It was noted that the Board has discussed how individual views of extraordinary
circumstances may differ from one another, including the need to raise a boat out of the
water to lessen the possibility of storm damage or because the canal is extremely wide
at a particular location.

Ms. Bogdanoff reiterated that these were not extraordinary circumstances, again citing
the pilings at the marina as an example of extraordinary circumstances. Attorney Dunckel
pointed out that the pilings were originally authorized by the Association, which would
constitute a self-created hardship.

Attorney Dunckel addressed the Commission’s request for a survey to establish the width
of the waterway, pointing out that the property lines of the parcels in question are
determined by recorded plats. Looking at the two plats in question showed the width to
be 120 ft. He added that the Declaration of Condominium for the subject property attaches
a Broward County environmental license which contemplates the possibility of building
additional slips. These documents show the width of the canal as 120 ft. Ms. Bogdanoff
stated that she was not contesting the 120 ft. listed width of the waterway.

Attorney Dunckel continued that the plats indicate the location of the property lines, which
can be inland of the seawall. Mr. Dilorio stated again that his structure extends 34.73 ft.
from the property line, which is within the required limitation.

Chair Witten advised that he would assume the width of the waterway as determined by
the recorded plats is 120 ft. With regard to extraordinary circumstances, he noted that
Attorney Dunckel had indicated there should be a better understanding of what
constitutes these circumstances.

Mr. Dilorio addressed the issues raised during Mr. Rogers’ presentation, noting that the
Association had requested a waiver for the pilings but was not in favor of the waiver he
had requested for his own slip, which he characterized as selective enforcement. He
added that the original violation against his slip referred to a length of 36.4 ft. beyond the
property line as determined by Code Compliance; if the location of the property line was
in question, the violation should not have been issued. The plats were recorded in
Broward County records in 1935 and would not change unless new plats are recorded to
supersede them.

Mr. Dilorio continued that condominium owners pay dues that are applied toward
insurance policies which cover liability among other issues. He also advised that another
floating vessel platform in the marina extends beyond the pilings; however, the

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 12 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 13

Association had not brought forward any complaints associated with that slip, nor had it
been reported to Code Compliance.

Mr. Dilorio continued that when he was first apprised of the violation, he had contacted
the previous unit owner who had installed the floating vessel platform, who informed him
that Florida Statutes treated these structures differently from other marine structures. He
added that the City Attorney’s Office, as well as Mr. Aguilera of Code Compliance, had
recommended that he seek a waiver.

Mr. Dilorio asserted that Ms. Bogdanoff was incorrect in stating that extraordinary
circumstances were not presented in his original Application of November 12, 2024, as
that Application included four justifications for extraordinary circumstances.

Chair Witten requested clarification of how Code Compliance was originally informed of
the issue. Mr. Aguilera replied that the condominium association had called Code
Compliance and requested that the property be cited for violations, which they showed to
him when he arrived at the location. The violations were specific to Slip 11 and the pilings.

Chair Witten asked how Code Compliance determined the distance of either of these
structures into the waterway. Mr. Aguilera replied that the Association had provided a
survey listing measurements that showed the distance to be over the 25 ft. limitation. He
clarified that no citation was issued on that day: he had revisited the property in the
presence of the City’s Chief Zoning Administrator, who walked the site with him and
concurred with the survey provided and agreed there was a violation. He issued the
violation at that time.

Chair Witten asked if the Chief Zoning Administrator was equally concerned with other
boats that appeared to exceed the floating vessel platform’s extension into the waterway.
Mr. Aguilera recalled there were fewer vessels at the subject location at the time of his
visit.

It was asked how Code Compliance proceeds with issuing a violation. Mr. Aguilera replied
that Code Compliance uses the best facts available to them, which may be through use
of aerial photos, laser measurements, or other measurement tools, with the
understanding that there may be slight discrepancies. They inspect the totality of the
circumstances, including identification of navigational hazards caused by violations that
are measured in feet rather than inches. He concluded that the measurement of 36 ft.
was moot, as the structure was clearly past the 25 ft. limitation.

Clarification was requested of whether or not a City Commissioner had asked specifically
for a survey before the Application was brought back to them. Attorney Dunckel replied
that while the gist of that discussion had indicated the width of the waterway could be
established by survey, there were other ways to establish that width, such as reviewing
the recorded plats. He concluded that in his opinion, the Applicant had satisfied the

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 13 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 14

Commission’s request, as the information appeared legally sufficient to establish the
waterway width as 120 ft.

Mr. Flanigan commented that the Board'’s focus is on waterway safety, and any extension
into the canal appeared to be minuscule in comparison to the width of the waterway.

Mr. Swindell observed that he would be uncomfortable moving the Application back to the
City Commission if the Commissioner’s request for a survey had not been met. Attorney
Dunckel advised that the Commission had requested this Item be placed on their next
Agenda, and if the lack of a survey became an issue, he would take responsibility for it at
that time. He reiterated that plats establish property lines.

A question was asked regarding why the Commission had not discussed the use of plat
lines rather than a survey. Attorney Dunckel recalled that at that time, the discussion had
been in terms of a survey; however, it was later realized that another means of
establishing the width could be done. The time frame necessary to procure a survey over
the holidays had also been a consideration. He added that the Applicant was also bringing
back information that established he had shortened the dock and was no longer in
violation.

It was noted that the actual measurement in question is the distance of the floating
structure from the property line rather than the width of the entire canal. Attorney Dunckel
pointed out that the width of the waterway must be taken into account in order to establish
the measurement of 30% from the property line. It was also noted that the width of the
waterway would not determine the distance that the structure extends beyond the
property line, which was what was requested by the Commission.

Attorney Dunckel concluded that it was his opinion that the MAB is responsible for either
recommending or denying approval in time for the Item to appear on the City
Commission’s next Agenda. Whether their recommendation is for approval or denial, the
Application would move forward to the Commission, as the recommendation is not
considered binding.

Motion made by Mr. Brunelle, seconded by Mr. Flanigan, to approve. In a roll call vote,
the motion passed 6-2 (Mr. Swindell and Mr. Walker dissenting).

Chair Witten recommended that members of the MAB attend the upcoming City
Commission meeting in support of their recommendation.

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 14 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 15

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 15 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 16

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 16 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 17

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 17 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 18

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 18 of 19



Marine Advisory Board
February 6, 2025
Page 19

CAM #25-0179
Exhibit 4
Page 19 of 19





